PRE PAID LEGAL SERVICES INC Form 10-K February 28, 2006 _____ UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 _____ FORM 10-K _____ (Mark one) |X| ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 | | TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the transition period from _____ to ____ Commission File Number: 1-9293 PRE-PAID LEGAL SERVICES, INC. (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) Oklahoma 73-1016728 (State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer incorporation or organization) Identification No.) One Pre-Paid Way Ada, Oklahoma 74820 (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code) Registrant's telephone number including area code: (580) 436-1234 Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act: Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered Common Stock, \$0.01 Par Value New York Stock Exchange Securities registered under Section 12 (g) of the Exchange Act: None Indicate by check mark if registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes [] No |X|Indicate by check mark if registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes $[\]$ No |X|Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes |X| No [] Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this

Form 10-K [].

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of "accelerated filer and large accelerated filer" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. Check one:

Large accelerated filer [] Accelerated filer |X| Non-accelerated file []

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act) Yes [] No |X|

State the aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates computed by reference to the price at which the common equity was last sold, or the average bid and asked prices of such common equity, as of the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter. As of June 30, 2005 -\$456,454,000

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date: As of February 17, 2006 there were 15,480,767 shares of Common Stock, par value \$.01 per share, outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE. Portions of our definitive proxy statement for its 2006 annual meeting of shareholders are incorporated into Part III of this Form 10-K by reference.

PRE-PAID LEGAL SERVICES, INC. FORM 10-K

For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I

ITEM	1.	BUSINESS
		General
		Industry Overview
		Description of Memberships
		Specialty Legal Service Plans
		Provider Law Firms
		Identity Theft Shield Provider
		Marketing
		Operations
		Quality Control
		Competition
		Regulation
		Employees
		Foreign Operations
		Availability of Information
ITEM	1A.	RISK FACTORS
ITEM	1B.	UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
ITEM	2.	PROPERTIES
ITEM	3.	LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
ITEM	4.	SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
PART	II	
ITEM	5.	MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER

		MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
		SECURITIES
		Market Price of and Dividends on the Common Stock
		Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
		Equity Compensation Plans
		Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
ITEM 6	•	SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
ITEM 7	•	MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
		RESULTS OF OPERATION
		Overview of our Financial Model
		Measures of Member Retention
		Results of Operations
		Comparison of 2005 to 2004
		Comparison of 2004 to 2003
		Liquidity and Capital Resources
		Forward Looking Statements
ITEM 72	Α.	QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
ITEM 8		FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
ITEM 9		CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
		FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
ITEM 92	Α.	CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
ITEM 91	В.	OTHER INFORMATION
PART I	II	(Information required by Part III is incorporated by
		reference from our definitive proxy statement for its 2006
		annual meeting of shareholders.)
PART I	V	
ITEM 1	5.	EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
SIGNAT	URES	

PRE-PAID LEGAL SERVICES, INC. FORM 10-K

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

General

We were one of the first companies in the United States organized solely to design, underwrite and market legal expense plans. Our predecessor commenced business in 1972 and began offering legal expense reimbursement services as a "motor service club" under Oklahoma law. In 1976, we were formed and acquired our predecessor in a stock exchange. We began offering Memberships independent of the motor service club product by adding a legal consultation and advice service, and in 1979 we implemented a legal expense benefit that provided for partial payment of legal fees in connection with the defense of certain civil and criminal actions. Our legal expense plans (referred to as "Memberships") currently provide for a variety of legal services in a manner similar to medical plans. In most states and provinces, standard plan benefits include preventive legal services, motor vehicle legal defense services, trial defense services,

IRS audit services and a 25% discount off legal services not specifically covered by the Membership for an average monthly Membership fee of approximately \$20. Additionally, in approximately 40 states, the Legal Shield rider can be added to the standard plan for only \$1 per month and provides members with 24-hour access to a toll-free number for attorney assistance if the member is arrested or detained. Also, during the third quarter of 2003, we began offering our Identity Theft Shield ("IDT") to new and existing members at \$9.95 per month if added to a legal service Membership ("add-on IDT") or it may be purchased separately for \$12.95 per month ("stand-alone IDT"). The identity theft related benefits include a credit report and related instructional guide, a credit score and related instructional guide, credit report monitoring with daily online and monthly offline notification of any changes in credit information and comprehensive identity theft restoration services.

Legal plan benefits are generally provided through a network of independent provider law firms, typically one firm per state or province and IDT plan benefits are provided by Kroll Background America, Inc., a subsidiary of Kroll Inc. ("Kroll"). Members have direct, toll-free access to Kroll or their provider law firm rather than having to call for a referral. At December 31, 2005, we had 1,542,789 Memberships in force with members in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and the Canadian provinces of Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta and Manitoba. Approximately 90% of such Memberships were in 29 states and provinces.

Industry Overview

Legal service plans, while used in Europe for more than one hundred years and representing more than a \$4 billion European industry, were first developed in the United States in the late 1960s. Since that time, there has been substantial growth in the number of Americans entitled to receive various forms of legal services through legal service plans. The National Resource Center for Consumers of Legal Services ("NRC") previously provided market information for different types of legal service plans and estimates of number of users. However, the NRC is no longer in existence and we are unaware of any current comparable information sources. In the last NRC report in 2002, the NRC estimated there were 164 million Americans without any type of legal service plan. The NRC estimated that 122 million Americans were entitled to service through at least one legal service plan in 2002 although more than half are "free" plans that generally provide limited benefits on an automatic enrollment without any direct cost to the individual. The 122 million Americans compares to 4 million in 1981, 58 million in 1990 and 115 million in 2000. We believe the legal service plan industry continues to evolve and market acceptance of legal service plans, as indicated by the continuing growth in the number of individuals covered by plans, is increasing.

"Public Perceptions of Lawyers: Consumer Research Findings, April 2002" prepared on behalf of the American Bar Association concluded that nearly seven in ten households had some occasion during the past year that might have led them to hire a lawyer. This report further suggested that "for the consumer, legal services are among the most difficult services to buy. The prospect of doing so is rife with uncertainty and potential risk." And further concluded that "the challenge (and opportunity) for the legal profession is to make lawyers more accessible and less threatening to consumers who might need them."

Legal service plans are offered through various organizations and marketing methods and contain a wide variety of benefits. Free plans include those sponsored by labor unions, elder hotlines, the American Association of Retired Persons and the National Education Association and employee assistance plans that are also automatic enrollment plans without direct cost to participants designed to provide limited telephonic access to attorneys for members of employee groups. There are also employer paid plans pursuant to which more comprehensive benefits are offered by the employer as a fringe benefit. Finally, there are individual enrollment plans, other employment based plans, including

voluntary payroll deduction plans, and miscellaneous plans. These plans typically have more comprehensive benefits, higher utilization, involve higher costs to participants, and are offered on an individual enrollment or voluntary basis. This is the market segment in which we compete.

According to the latest estimates of the census bureaus of the United States and Canada, the two geographic areas in which we operate, the number of households in the combined area exceeds 127 million. Since we have always disclosed our members in terms of Memberships and individuals covered by the Membership include the individual who purchases the Membership together with his or her spouse and never married children living at home up to age 21 or up to age 23 if the children are full time college students, we believe that our market share should be viewed as a percentage of households. Historically, our primary market focus has been the "middle" eighty percent of such households rather than the upper and lower ten percent segments based on our belief that the upper ten percent may already have a relationship with an attorney or law firm and the lower ten percent may not be able to afford the cost of a legal service plan. As a percentage of this defined "middle" market of approximately 100 million households, we currently have an approximate 1.5% share of the estimated market based on our existing 1.5 million active Memberships and, over the last 30 years, an additional 5% of households have previously purchased, but no longer own, Memberships. We routinely remarket to previous members and reinstated approximately 79,000, 72,000 and 66,000 Memberships during 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Description of Memberships

The Memberships we sell generally allow members to access legal services through a network of independent law firms ("provider law firms") under contract with us. Provider law firms are paid a monthly fixed fee on a capitated basis to render services to plan members residing within the state or province in which the provider law firm attorneys are licensed to practice. Because the fixed fee payments by us to provider law firms do not vary based on the type and amount of benefits utilized by the member, this capitated arrangement provides significant advantages to us in managing claims risk. At December 31, 2005, Memberships subject to the capitated provider law firm arrangement comprised approximately 99% of our active Memberships. The remaining Memberships, approximately 1%, were primarily sold prior to 1987 and allow members to locate their own lawyer ("open panel") to provide legal services available under the Membership with the member's lawyer being reimbursed for services rendered based on usual, reasonable and customary fees, or are in states where there is no provider law firm in place and our referral attorney network described below is utilized.

Family Legal Plan

The Family Legal Plan we currently market in most jurisdictions consists of five basic benefit groups that provide coverage for a broad range of preventive and litigation-related legal expenses. The Family Legal Plan accounted for more than 92% of our Membership fees in 2005 and 2004. In addition to the Family Legal Plan, we market other specialized legal services products specifically related to employment in certain professions described below.

In 12 states, certain of our plans are available in the Spanish language. For the Spanish language plans, the provider law firms have both bilingual staff and lawyers and we have bilingual staff for customer service, attorney resources and marketing service functions. We will continue to evaluate making our plans available in additional languages in markets where demand for such a product is expected to be sufficient to justify this additional cost.

In exchange for a fixed monthly, semi-annual or annual payment, members are entitled to specified legal services. Those individuals covered by the Membership include the individual who purchases the Membership along with his or her spouse and never married children living at home up to age 21 or up to age

23 if the children are full time college students. Also included are children up to age 18 for whom the member is legal guardian and any dependent child, regardless of age, who is mentally or physically disabled. Each Membership, other than the Business Owners' Legal Solutions Plan, is guaranteed renewable, except in the case of fraud or nonpayment of Membership fees. Historically, we have not raised rates to existing members. If new benefits become available, existing members may choose the newer, more comprehensive plan at a higher rate or keep their existing Memberships. Memberships are automatically renewed at the end of each Membership period unless the member cancels prior to the renewal date or fails to make payment on a timely basis.

The basic legal service plan Membership is sold as a package consisting of five separate benefit groups. Memberships range in cost from \$14.95 to \$25.00 per month depending in part on the schedule of benefits, which may vary from state or province in compliance with regulatory requirements. Benefits for domestic matters, bankruptcy and drug and alcohol related matters are limited in most Memberships.

Preventive Legal Services. These benefits generally offer unlimited toll-free access to a member's provider law firm for advice and consultation on any legal matter. These benefits also include letters and phone calls on the member's behalf, review of personal contracts and documents, each up to 10 pages in length, last will and testament preparation for the member and annual will reviews at no additional cost. Additional wills for spouse and other covered members may be prepared at a cost of \$20.

Motor Vehicle Legal Protection. These benefits offer legal assistance for matters resulting from the operation of a licensed motor vehicle. Members have assistance available to them at no additional cost for: (a) defense in the court of original jurisdiction of moving traffic violations deemed meritorious, (b) defense in the court of original jurisdiction of any charge of manslaughter, involuntary manslaughter, vehicular homicide or negligent homicide as the result of a licensed motor vehicle accident, (c) up to 2.5 hours of assistance per incident for collection of minor property damages (up to \$2,000) sustained by the member's licensed motor vehicle in an accident, (d) up to 2.5 hours of assistance per incident for collection of personal injury damages (up to \$2,000) sustained by the member or covered family member while driving, riding or being struck as a pedestrian by a motor vehicle, and (e) up to 2.5 hours of assistance per incident in connection with an action, including an appeal, for the maintenance or reinstatement of a member's driver's license which has been canceled, suspended, or revoked. No coverage under this benefit of the basic legal service plan is offered to members for pre-existing conditions, drug or alcohol related matters, or for commercial vehicles over two axles or operation without a valid license.

Trial Defense. These benefits offer assistance to the member and the member's spouse through an increasing schedule of benefits based on Membership year. Up to 60 hours are available for the defense of civil or job-related criminal charges by the provider law firm in the first Membership year. The criminal action must be within the scope and responsibility of employment activities of the member or spouse. Up to 2.5 hours of assistance are available prior to trial, and the balance is available for actual trial services. The schedule of benefits under this benefit area increases by 60 hours each Membership year to: 120 hours in the second Membership year, 3 hours of which are available for pre-trial services; 180 hours in the third Membership year, 3.5 hours of which are available for pre-trial services; 240 hours in the fourth Membership year, 4 hours of which are available for pre-trial services, to the maximum limit of 300 hours in the fifth Membership year, 4.5 hours of which are available for pre-trial services. This benefit excludes domestic matters, bankruptcy, deliberate criminal acts, alcohol or drug-related matters, business matters, and pre-existing conditions.

In addition to the pre-trial benefits of the basic legal plan described above, there are additional pre-trial hours available as an option, or add-on, to the basic plan. These optional benefits cost \$9.00 per month and add 15 hours of pre-trial services during the first year of the Membership increasing 5 additional hours each Membership year to the maximum limit of 35 hours in the fifth Membership year and increases total pre-trial and trial defense hours available pursuant to the expanded Membership to 75 hours during the first Membership year to 335 hours in the fifth Membership year. These pre-trial hours are in addition to those hours already provided by the basic plan so that the member, in the first year of the Membership, has a combined total of 17.5 pre-trial hours available escalating to a combined total of 39.5 pre-trial hours in the fifth Membership year. There were approximately 571,000 subscribers of this benefit at December 31, 2005 compared to 545,000 at December 31, 2004.

IRS Audit Protection Services. This benefit offers up to 50 hours of legal assistance per year in the event the member, spouse or dependent children receive written notification of an Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") audit or are summoned in writing to appear before the IRS concerning a tax return. The 50 hours of assistance are available in the following circumstances: (a) up to 1 hour for initial consultation, (b) up to 2.5 hours for representation in connection with the audit if settlement with the IRS is not reached within 30 days, and (c) the remaining 46.5 hours of actual trial time if settlement is not achieved prior to litigation. Coverage is limited to audit notification received regarding the tax return for years during which the Membership is effective. Representation for charges of fraud or income tax evasion, business and corporate tax returns and certain other matters are excluded from this benefit.

With pre-trial benefits limited to 2.5 hours to 4.5 hours based on the Membership year for trial defense (without the pre-trial option described) and 3.5 hours for the IRS audit benefit, these benefits do not ensure complete pre-trial coverage. In order to receive additional pre-trial IRS audit or trial defense benefits, a matter must actually proceed to trial. The costs of pre-trial preparation that exceed the benefits under the Membership are the responsibility of the member. Provider law firms under the closed panel Membership have agreed to provide to members any additional pre-trial services beyond those stipulated in the Membership at a 25% discount from the provider law firm's customary and usual hourly rate. Retainer fees for these additional services may be required.

Preferred Member Discount for All Other Services. Provider law firms have agreed to provide to members any legal services beyond those stipulated in the Membership at a fee discounted 25% from the provider law firm's customary and usual hourly rate. This "customary and usual hourly rate" is a fixed single hourly rate for each provider firm that is generally an average of the firm's various hourly rates for its attorneys which typically vary based on experience and expertise.

Legal Shield Benefit

In approximately 41 states and four Canadian provinces, the Legal Shield plan can be added to the standard or expanded Family Legal Plan for \$1 per month and provides members with 24-hour access to a toll-free number for provider law firm assistance if the member is arrested or detained. The Legal Shield member, if detained, can present their Legal Shield card to the officer that has detained them to make it clear that they have access to legal representation and that they are requesting to contact a lawyer immediately. The benefits of the Legal Shield plan are subject to conditions imposed by the detaining authority, which may not allow for the provider law firm to communicate with the member on an immediate basis. The Legal Shield benefit was introduced in 1999. There were approximately 1,015,000 Legal Shield subscribers at December 31, 2005 compared to approximately 932,000 at December 31, 2004.

Identity Theft Shield Benefit

During the third quarter of 2003, we announced a joint marketing agreement with Kroll Background America Inc., a subsidiary of Kroll Inc., that allows our independent sales associates to market Kroll's identity theft benefits in 49 states and four Canadian provinces. By adding the new Identity Theft Shield to their existing family Membership, members have toll free access to the identity theft specialists at Kroll. This benefit can be added to a legal service Membership for \$9.95 per month or purchased separately for \$12.95 per month. The identity theft related benefits include a credit report and related instructional guide, a credit score and related instructional guide, credit report monitoring with daily online and monthly offline notification of any changes in credit information and comprehensive identity theft restoration services. There were approximately 513,000 and 311,000 subscribers at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, comprised of 461,000 and 284,000 subscribers at \$9.95 per month and 52,000 and 27,000 subscribers at \$12.95 per month.

Canadian Family Plan

The Family Legal Plan is currently marketed in the Canadian provinces of Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta and Manitoba. We began operations in Ontario and British Columbia during 1999, Alberta in February 2001 and Manitoba in August 2001. Benefits of the Canadian plan include expanded preventive benefits including assistance with Canadian Government agencies, warranty assistance and small claims court assistance as well as the preferred member discount. Canadian Membership fees collected during 2005 were approximately \$5.6 million in U.S. dollars compared to \$4.4 million collected in 2004 and \$4.2 million collected in 2003.

Specialty Legal Service Plans

In addition to the Family Legal Plan described above, we also offer other specialty or niche legal service plans. These specialty plans usually contain many of the Family Legal Plan benefits adjusted as necessary to meet specific industry or prospective member requirements. In addition to those specialty plans described below, we will continue to evaluate and develop other such plans as the need and market allow.

Business Owners' Legal Solutions Plan

The Business Owners' Legal Solutions plan was developed during 1995 and provides business oriented legal service benefits for small businesses with 99 or fewer employees. This plan was developed and test marketed in selected geographical areas and more widely marketed beginning in 1996 at a monthly rate of 69.00. This plan provides small businesses with legal consultation and correspondence benefits, contract and document reviews, debt collection assistance and reduced rates for any non-covered areas. During 1997, the coverage offered pursuant to this plan was expanded to include trial defense benefits and Membership in GoSmallBiz.com, an unrelated Internet based service provider. Through GoSmallBiz.com, members may receive unlimited business consultations from business consultants and have access to timely small business articles, educational software, Internet tools and more. This expanded plan is currently marketed at a monthly rate ranging from \$69 to \$150 (\$175 in Canada) depending on the number of employees and provides business oriented legal service benefits for any for-profit business with 99 or fewer employees. This plan is available in 42 states and three Canadian provinces and represented approximately 3.4%, 4.3% and 3.7% of our Membership fees during 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Law Officers Legal Plan

The Law Officers Legal Plan, developed in 1991 and marketed to law enforcement officers, provides 24-hour job-related emergency toll-free access to a provider law firm and provides legal services associated with administrative hearings. This plan was designed to meet the legal needs of persons in the law enforcement profession and is currently marketed at the monthly rate of \$16.00 or at a group rate of \$14.95. We have members covered under the Law Officers

Legal Plan in 27 states. The Law Officers Legal Plan offers the basic family legal plan benefits described above without the motor vehicle related benefits. These motor vehicle benefits are available in the Law Officers Legal Plan only for defense of criminal charges resulting from the operation of a licensed motor vehicle. Additionally, at no charge to the member, a 24-hour emergency hotline is available to access the services of the provider law firm in situations of job-related urgency. The Law Officers Legal Plan also offers representation at no additional charge for up to ten hours (five hours per occurrence) for two administrative hearings or inquiries per year and one pre-termination hearing per Membership year before a review board or arbitrator. Preparation and/or counsel for post-termination hearings are also available to members as a schedule of benefits, which increases with each Membership year. The schedule of benefits is similar to that offered under the Family Legal Plan Trial Defense, including the availability of the optional pre-trial hours described above for an additional \$9.00 per month. During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Law Officers Legal Plan accounted for approximately 1.6%, 1.4% and ..9%, respectively, of our Membership fees.

Commercial Driver Legal Plan

The Commercial Driver Legal Plan, developed in 1986, is designed specifically for the professional truck driver and offers a variety of driving-related benefits, including coverage for moving and non-moving violations. This plan provides coverage by a provider law firm for persons who drive a commercial vehicle. This legal service plan is currently offered in 45 states. In certain states, the Commercial Driver Legal Plan is underwritten by the Road America Motor Club, an unrelated motor service club. During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, this plan accounted for approximately ..9%, 1.2% and .9%, respectively, of Membership fees. The Plan underwritten by the Road America Motor Club is available at the monthly rate of \$35.95 or at a group rate of \$32.95. Plans underwritten by us are available at the monthly rate of \$32.95 or at a group rate of \$29.95. Benefits include the motor vehicle related benefits described above, defense of Department of Transportation violations and the 25% discounted rate for services beyond plan scope, such as defense of non-moving violations. The Road America Motor Club underwritten plan includes bail and arrest bonds and services for family vehicles.

Home-Based Business Rider

The Home-Based Business plan was designed to provide small business owners access to commonly needed legal services. It can be added to the Expanded Family Legal Plan in approved states. To qualify, the business and residence address must be the same with three or fewer employees and be a for-profit business that is not publicly traded. Benefits under this plan include unlimited business telephone consultation, review of three business contracts per month, three business and debt collection letters per month and discounted trial defense rates. This plan also includes Membership in GoSmallBiz.com. This plan is available in 37 states and one Canadian province and represented approximately 1.8%, 1.4% and 1.6% of our Membership fees during 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Comprehensive Group Legal Services Plan

In late 1999 we introduced the Comprehensive Group plan, designed for the large group employee benefit market. This plan, available in 35 states, provides all the benefits of the Family Legal Plan as well as mortgage document preparation, assistance with uncontested legal situations such as adoptions, name changes, separations and divorces. Additional benefits include the preparation of health care power of attorney and living wills or directives to physicians. Although we have experienced decreased sales of this plan during the last year (4,444 Memberships, 4,482 Memberships and 8,795 Memberships during 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively), we still believe this plan improves our competitive position in the large group market. We continue to emphasize group marketing to employee groups of less than 50 rather than larger groups where there is more competition, price negotiation and typically a longer sales cycle.

Other than additional benefits such as the Legal Shield and Identity Theft Shield benefits described above, the basic structure and design of the Membership benefits has not significantly changed over the last several years. The consistency in plan design and delivery provides us consistent, accurate data about plan utilization which enables us to manage our benefit costs through the capitated payment structure to provider firms. We frequently evaluate and consider other plan benefits that may include other services complimentary to the basic legal service plan.

Provider Law Firms

Our Memberships generally allow members to access legal services through a network of independent provider law firms under contract with us generally referred to as "provider law firms." Provider law firms are paid a fixed fee on a per capita basis to render services to plan members residing within the state or province as provided by the contract. Because the fixed fee payments by us to provider law firms in connection with the Memberships do not vary based on the type and amount of benefits utilized by the member, this arrangement provides significant advantages to us in managing our cost of benefits. Pursuant to these provider law firm arrangements and due to the volume of revenue directed to these firms, we have the ability to more effectively monitor the customer service aspects of the legal services provided, the financial leverage to help ensure a customer friendly emphasis by the provider law firms and we have has access to larger, more diversified law firms. Through our members, we are typically the largest client base of our provider law firms.

Provider law firms are selected to serve members based on a number of factors, including recommendations from provider law firms and other lawyers in the area in which the candidate provider law firm is located and in neighboring states, our investigation of bar association standing and client references, evaluation of the education, experience and areas of practice of lawyers within the firm, on-site evaluations by our management, and interviews with lawyers in the firm who would be responsible for providing services. Most importantly, these candidate law firms are evaluated on the firm's customer service philosophy.

Approximately 87% of provider law firms, representing 98% of our legal service members, are connected to us via high-speed digital links to our management information systems, thereby providing real-time monitoring capability. This online connection offers the provider law firm access to specially designed software developed by us for administration of legal services by the firm. These systems provide statistical reports of each law firm's activity and performance and allow virtually all of the members served by provider law firms to be monitored on a near real-time basis. The few provider law firms that are not online with us typically have a small Membership base and must provide various weekly reports to us to assist in monitoring the firm's service level. The combination of the online statistical reporting and weekly service reports for smaller provider law firms allows quality control monitoring of over 15 separate service delivery benchmarks. In addition, we regularly conduct extensive random surveys of members who have used the legal services of a provider law firm. We survey members in each state every 60 days, compile the results of such surveys and provide the provider law firms with copies of each survey and the overall summary of the results. If a member indicates on a survey the service did not meet their expectation, the member is contacted as soon as possible to resolve the issue.

Each month, provider law firms are presented with a comprehensive report of ratings related to our online monitoring, member complaints, member survey evaluations, telephone reports and other information developed in connection with member service monitoring. If a problem is detected, we recommend immediate remedial actions to the provider law firms to eliminate service deficiencies. In

the event the deficiencies of a provider law firm are not eliminated through discussions and additional training with us, such deficiencies may result in the termination of the provider law firm. We are in constant communication with our provider law firms and meet with them frequently for additional training, to encourage increased communications with us and to share suggestions relating to the timely and effective delivery of services to our members. We have recently empanelled a provider committee consisting of four specific provider law firm members to meet with us on a quarterly basis in order to improve the flow of communications between our provider law firms and our management.

Each attorney member of the provider law firm rendering services must have at least two years of experience as a lawyer, unless we waive this requirement due to special circumstances such as instances when the lawyer demonstrates significant legal experience acquired in an academic, judicial or similar capacity other than as a lawyer. We provide customer service training to the provider law firms and their support staff through on-site training that allows us to observe the individual lawyers of provider law firms as they directly assist the members.

Agreements with provider law firms: (a) generally permit termination of the agreement by either party upon 60 days prior written notice, (b) permit us to terminate the Agreement for cause immediately upon written notice, (c) require the firm to maintain a minimum amount of malpractice insurance on each of its attorneys, in an amount not less than \$100,000, (d) preclude us from interference with the lawyer-client relationship, (e) provide for periodic review of services provided, (f) provide for protection of our proprietary information and (g) require the firm to indemnify us against liabilities resulting from legal services rendered by the firm. We are precluded from contracting with other law firms to provide the same service in the same geographic area, except in situations where the designated law firm has a conflict of interest, we enroll a group of 500 or more members, or when the agreement is terminated by either party. Provider law firms are precluded from contracting with other prepaid legal service companies without our approval. Provider law firms receive a fixed monthly payment for each member who are residents in the service area and are responsible for providing the Membership benefits without additional remuneration. If a provider law firm delivers legal services to an open panel member, the law firm is reimbursed for services rendered according to the open panel Membership. As of December 31, 2005, provider law firms averaged approximately 54 employees each and on average are evenly split between support staff and lawyers.

We have had occasional disputes with provider law firms, some of which have resulted in litigation. The toll-free telephone lines utilized and paid for by the provider law firms are owned by us so that in the event of a termination, the members' calls can be rerouted very quickly. Nonetheless, we believe that our relations with provider law firms are generally very good. At the end of 2005, we had provider law firms representing 48 states and four provinces compared to 46 states and four provinces at the end of 2004 and 2003. During the last three calendar years, our relationships with a total of eight provider law firms were terminated by us or the provider law firm. As of December 31, 2005, 28 provider law firms have been under contract with us for more than eight years with the average tenure of all provider law firms being approximately 7.7 years.

We have an extensive database of referral lawyers who have provided services to our members for use by members when a designated provider law firm is not available. Lawyers with whom members have experienced verified service problems, or are otherwise inappropriate for the referral system, are removed from our list of referral lawyers.

Identity Theft Shield Benefits Provider

Kroll is one of the world's leading risk consulting companies. For more than 30 years, Kroll has helped companies, government agencies and individuals reduce their exposure to risk and capitalize on business opportunities. Kroll is an operating unit of Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc., the global professional services firm. With offices in more than 60 cities in the U.S. and abroad, Kroll can operate and restructure businesses; scrutinize accounting practices and financial documents; gather and filter electronic evidence for attorneys; recover lost or damaged data from computers and servers; conduct in-depth investigations; screen domestic and foreign-born job candidates; protect individuals, and enhance security systems and procedures. Kroll's clients include many of the world's largest and most prestigious corporations, law firms, academic institutions, non-profit organizations, sovereign governments and high net-worth individuals, entertainers and celebrities. Kroll's seasoned professionals were handpicked and recruited from leading management consulting companies, top law firms, international auditing companies, multinational corporations, special operations forces, law enforcement and intelligence agencies. Kroll also maintains a network of highly trained specialists in cities throughout the world who can respond to global needs 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Over the last three years, Kroll has developed a unique solution for victims of identity theft and this service is now available to our members through the Identity Theft Shield benefit. Similar to the provider law firms, Kroll is paid a fixed fee on a monthly per capita basis to render services to IDT members.

Marketing

Multi-Level Marketing

We market Memberships through a multi-level marketing program that encourages individuals to sell Memberships and allows individuals to recruit and develop their own sales organizations. Commissions are paid only when a Membership is sold. No commissions are paid based solely on recruitment. When a Membership is sold, commissions are paid to the associate making the sale, and to other associates (on average, 9 others at December 31, 2005 compared to 13 others at December 31, 2004 and 2003) who are in the line of associates who directly or indirectly recruited the selling associate. We provide training materials, organize area-training meetings and designate personnel at the home office specially trained to answer questions and inquiries from associates. We offer various communication avenues to our sales associates to keep such associates informed of any changes in the marketing of our Memberships. The primary communication vehicles we utilize to keep our sales associates informed include extensive use of conference calls and e-mail, an interactive voice-mail service, The Connection monthly magazine, an interactive voice response system, a monthly DVD (digital video disc) program and our website, prepaidlegal.com.

Multi-level marketing is primarily used for marketing based on personal sales since it encourages individual or group face-to-face meetings with prospective members and has the potential of attracting a large number of sales personnel within a short period of time. Our marketing efforts towards individuals typically target the middle income family or individual and seek to educate potential members concerning the benefits of having ready access to legal counsel for a variety of everyday legal problems. Memberships with individuals or families sold by the multi-level sales force constituted 80% of our Memberships in force at December 31, 2005, compared to 75% at December 31, 2004 and 2003. Although other means of payment are available, approximately 74% of fees on Memberships purchased by individuals or families are paid on a monthly basis by means of automatic bank draft or credit card.

Group marketing

Our marketing efforts towards employee groups, principally on a payroll deduction payment basis, are designed to permit our sales associates to reach more potential members with each sales presentation and strive to capitalize on,

among other things, what we perceive to be a growing interest among employers in the value of providing legal and identity theft service plans to their employees. Memberships sold through employee groups constituted approximately 20% of total Memberships in force at December 31, 2005, compared to 25% at December 31, 2004 and 2003. Adverse publicity from certain news publications about us is responsible, to some extent, for the decline in group Memberships on a percentage basis. We believe such adverse publicity makes opening new employee groups more difficult and negatively impacts the retention rates of existing employee group Memberships. The majority of employee group Memberships are sold to school systems, governmental entities and businesses. We emphasize group marketing to employee groups of less than 50 rather than larger groups where there is more competition, price negotiation and typically a longer sales cycle. No group accounted for more than 1% of our consolidated revenues from Memberships during 2005, 2004 or 2003. Substantially all group Memberships are paid on a monthly basis. We are active in legislative lobbying efforts to enhance our ability to market to public employee groups and to encourage Congress to reenact legislation to permit legal service plans to qualify for pre-tax payments under tax qualified employee cafeteria plans.

General

Sales associates are generally engaged as independent contractors and are provided with training materials and are given the opportunity to participate in our training programs. Sales associates are required to complete a specified training program prior to marketing our Memberships to employee groups. All advertising and solicitation materials used by sales associates must be approved by us prior to use. At December 31, 2005, we had 468,365 "vested" sales associates compared to 343,696 and 329,600 "vested" sales associates at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. A sales associate is considered to be "vested" if he or she has personally sold at least three new Memberships per quarter or if he or she retains a personal Membership. A vested associate is entitled to continue to receive commissions on prior sales after all previous commission advances have been recovered. However, a substantial number of vested associates do not continue to market the Membership, as they are not required to do so in order to continue to be vested. During 2005, we had 103,248 sales associates who personally sold at least one Membership, of which 61,238 (59%) made first time sales. During 2004 and 2003 we had 79,716 and 84,207 sales associates producing at least one Membership sale, respectively, of which 41,699 (52%) and 45,920 (55%), respectively, made first time sales. During 2005, we had 11,221 sales associates who personally sold more than ten Memberships compared to 9,895 and 10,685 in 2004 and 2003, respectively. A substantial number of our sales associates market our Memberships on a part-time basis only. For the year 2005, new sales associates enrolled increased 125% to 242,223 with an average enrollment fee of \$57 from the 107,552 enrolled in 2004 with an average enrollment fee of \$142.

We derive revenues from our multi-level marketing sales force, principally from a one-time enrollment fee from each new sales associate for which we provide initial marketing supplies and enrollment services to the associate. Average enrollment fees paid by new sales associates were \$57, \$142 and \$136 for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We have a combination classroom and field training program, titled Fast Start to Success ("Fast Start"), aimed at increasing the level of new Membership sales per associate. Associates successfully complete the program by writing three new Memberships and recruiting a new sales associate or by personally selling five new Memberships within 45 days of the associate's start date. Associates in states that require the associate to become licensed have 45 days from the issue date on their license to complete the same requirements. Amounts collected from sales associates are intended primarily to offset our costs incurred in recruiting and training and providing materials to sales associates and are not intended to generate profits from such activities. Other revenues from sales associates represent the sale of marketing supplies and promotional materials and include fees related to our eService program for associates. The eService program

provides subscribers Internet based back office support such as reports, on-line documents, tools, a personal e-mail account and multiple personalized web sites with "flash" movie presentations.

We continually review our compensation plan for the multi-level marketing force to assure that the various financial incentives in the plan encourage our desired goals. We offer various incentive programs from time to time and frequently adjust the program to maintain appropriate incentives and to improve Membership production and retention.

We hold our International Convention once a year, typically in the spring, and a Leadership Summit, typically in the fall, and routinely host more than 10,000 of our sales associates at these events. These events are intended to provide additional training, corporate updates, new announcements, motivation and associate recognition. Additionally, we offer the Player's Club incentive program providing additional incentives to our associates as a reward for consistent, quality business. Associates can earn the right to attend an annual incentive trip by meeting monthly qualification requirements for the entire calendar year and maintaining certain personal retention rates for the Memberships sold during the calendar year. Associates can also earn the right to receive additional monthly bonuses by meeting the monthly qualification requirements for twelve consecutive months and maintaining certain personal retention rates for the Memberships sold during that twelve month period.

Regional Vice Presidents

We have a group of employees that serve as Regional Vice Presidents ("RVPs") responsible for associate activity in a given geographic region and with the ability to appoint independent contractors as Area Coordinators within the RVP's region. The RVPs have weekly reporting requirements as well as quarterly sales and recruiting goals. The RVP and Area Coordinator program provides a basis to effectively monitor current sales activity, further educate and motivate the sales force and otherwise enhance the relationships between the associates and us. New products and initiatives will continue to be channeled through the RVPs and Area Coordinators. At December 31, 2005, we had 106 RVPs in place.

Pre-Paid Legal Benefits Association

The PPL Benefits Association ("PPLBA") was founded in 1999 with the intent of providing sales associates the opportunity to have access, at their own expense, to health insurance and life insurance benefits. Membership in the Association allows a sales associate to become eligible to enroll in numerous benefit programs, as well as take advantage of attractive affinity agreements. Membership in this Association is open to sales associates that reach a certain level within our marketing programs who also maintain an active personal legal services Membership. The PPLBA is a separate association not owned or controlled by us and is governed by an 8 member Board of Directors, including four officer positions. None of the officers or directors of the PPLBA serve in any such capacity with us. The PPLBA employs a Director of Associate Benefits paid by the Association. Affinity programs available to members of the PPLBA include credit cards, long-distance, wireless services, safety trip plan, mortgage and real estate assistance and a travel club. As determined by its Board of Directors, some of the revenue generated by the PPLBA through commissions from vendors of the benefits and affinity programs or contributed to the Association by us may be used to make open-market purchases of our stock for use in stock bonus awards to Association members based on criteria established from time to time by the Board of Directors of the PPLBA. Since inception and through December 31, 2005, approximately 39,000 shares were purchased by the PPLBA for awards to its members. In 2002, the PPLBA offered cash in lieu of stock awards and approximately 21,000 shares purchased by the Association were sold to us on January 2, 2003 at the stock's closing price to fund the awards. The PPLBA awarded approximately 3,300, 5,000 and 10,000 shares of stock to Association members representing the 2005, 2004 and 2003 stock bonus awards, respectively.

Cooperative Marketing

We have in the past, and may in the future, develop marketing strategies pursuant to which we seek arrangements with insurance and service companies that have established sales forces. Under such arrangements, the agents or sales force of the cooperative marketing partner market our Memberships along with the products already marketed by the partner's agents or sales force. Such arrangements allow the cooperative marketing partner to enhance its existing customer relationships and distribution channels by adding our product to the marketing partner's existing range of products and services, while we are able to gain broader Membership distribution and access to established customer bases.

We have a cooperative marketing agreement with Atlanta-based Primerica Financial Services ("PFS"), a subsidiary of Citigroup, Inc. PFS is one of the largest financial services marketing organizations in North America with more than 100,000 personal financial analysts across the U.S. and Canada. The PFS cooperative marketing agreement resulted in approximately 23,000 new Membership sales during 2005 compared to 19,000 and 15,000, respectively for 2004 and 2003.

We have had limited success with cooperative marketing arrangements in the past and are unable to predict with certainty what success we will achieve, if any, under our existing or future cooperative marketing arrangements.

Operations

Our corporate operations involve Membership application processing, member-related customer service, various associate-related services including commission payments, receipt of Membership fees, related general ledger accounting, human resources, internal audit and managing and monitoring the provider law firm relationships.

We utilize a management information system to control operations costs and monitor benefit utilization. Among other functions, the system evaluates benefit claims, monitors member use of benefits and monitors marketing/sales data and financial reporting records. Our dominant concerns in the architecture of private networks and web systems include security, scalability, capacity to accommodate peak traffic and business continuity in the event of a disaster. We believe our management information system has substantial capacity to accommodate increases in business data before substantial upgrades will be required. We believe this excess capacity will enable us to experience a significant increase in the number of members serviced with less than a commensurate increase of administrative costs.

We have built a strong Internet presence to strengthen the services provided to both members and associates. Our Internet site, at www.prepaidlegal.com, welcomes the multifaceted needs of our members, sales force, investors and prospects. It has also reduced costs associated with communicating critical information to the associate sales force.

Our operations also include departments specifically responsible for marketing support and regulatory and licensing compliance. We have an internal production staff that is responsible for the development of new audio and video sales materials.

Quality Control

In addition to our quality control efforts for provider law firms described above, we also closely monitor the performance of our home office personnel, especially those who have telephone contact with members or sales associates. We record home office employee telephone calls with our members and sales associates to assure that our policies are being followed and to gather data

about recurring problems that may be avoided through modifications in policies. We also use such recorded calls for training and recognition purposes.

Competition

We compete in a variety of market segments in the legal service plan industry, including, among others, individual enrollment plans, employee benefit plans and certain specialty segments. Our principal competitors are Hyatt Legal Plans (a MetLife company), ARAG(R) North America, National Legal Plan and Legal Services Plan of America (a GE Financial company, formerly the Signature Group). Most of these concentrate their marketing to larger employer groups and offer open panel plans.

If a greater number of companies seek to enter the legal service plan market, we will experience increased competition in the marketing of our Memberships. However, we believe our competitive position is enhanced by our actuarial database, our existing network of provider attorney law firms and our ability to tailor products to suit various types of distribution channels or target markets. We believe that no other competitor has the ability to monitor the customer service aspect of the delivery of legal services to the same extent we do. Finally, we have intentionally concentrated our group marketing to small employer groups. Serious competition is most likely from companies with significant financial resources and advanced marketing techniques.

Regulation

We are regulated by or required to file with or obtain approval of State Insurance Departments, Secretaries of State, State Bar Associations and State Attorney General offices depending on individual state opinions of regulatory responsibility for legal expense plans. We are also required to file with similar government agencies in Canada. While some states or provinces regulate legal expense plans as insurance or specialized legal expense products, others regulate them as services.

As of December 31, 2005, we or one of our subsidiaries were marketing new Memberships in 37 states or provinces that require no special licensing. Our subsidiaries serve as operating companies in 16 states that regulate Memberships as insurance or specialized legal expense products. The most significant of these wholly owned subsidiaries are Pre-Paid Legal Casualty, Inc. ("PPLCI"), Pre-Paid Legal Services, Inc. of Florida ("PPLSIF") and Legal Service Plans of Virginia, Inc. ("LSPV"). Of our total Memberships in force as of December 31, 2005, 26% were written in jurisdictions that subject us or one of our subsidiaries to insurance or specialized legal expense plan regulation. We are actively working with regulators in the various states in which our subsidiaries are regulated as insurance to explore other regulatory alternatives to eliminate some of the agent licensing or financial and marketing regulation that is prevalent in the insurance industry.

We began selling Memberships in the Canadian provinces of Ontario and British Columbia during 1999, Alberta during February 2001 and Manitoba during August 2001. The Memberships we currently market in such provinces do not constitute an insurance product and therefore are exempt from insurance regulation.

In states with no special licensing or regulatory requirements, we commence operations only when advised by the appropriate regulatory authority that proposed operations do not constitute conduct of the business of insurance. There is no assurance that Memberships will be exempt from insurance regulation even in states or provinces with no specific regulations. In these situations, we or one of our subsidiaries would be required to qualify as an insurance company in order to conduct business.

PPLCI serves as the operating company in most states where Memberships are determined to be an insurance product. PPLCI is organized as a casualty insurance company under Oklahoma law and as such is subject to regulation and oversight by various state insurance agencies where it conducts business. These agencies regulate PPLCI's forms, rates, trade practices, allowable investments and licensing of agents and sales associates. These agencies also prescribe various reports, require regular evaluations by regulatory authorities, and set forth-minimum capital and reserve requirements. Our insurance subsidiaries are routinely evaluated and examined by representatives from the various regulatory authorities in the normal course of business. Such examinations have not and are not expected to adversely impact our operations or financial condition in any material way. We believe that all of our subsidiaries meet any required capital and reserve requirements. Dividends paid by PPLCI are restricted under Oklahoma law to available surplus funds derived from realized net profits.

We are required to register and file reports with the Oklahoma Insurance Commissioner as a member of a holding company system under the Oklahoma Insurance Holding Company System Regulatory Act. Transactions between PPLCI and us or any other subsidiary must be at arms-length with consideration for the adequacy of PPLCI's surplus, and may require prior approval of the Oklahoma Insurance Commissioner. Payment of any extraordinary dividend by PPLCI to us requires approval of the Oklahoma Insurance Commissioner. The payment of dividends by PPLCI is restricted under the Oklahoma Insurance Code to available surplus funds derived from realized net profits and requires the approval of the Oklahoma Insurance Commissioner for any dividend representing more than the greater of 10% of such accumulated available surplus or the previous years' net profits. During 2005, PPLCI declared and paid a \$4.1 million dividend to us. No dividends were declared or paid by PPLCI during 2004 or 2003. At January 1, 2006, PPLCI had approximately \$6.1 million available for payment of an ordinary dividend. Any change in our control, defined as acquisition by any method of more than 10% of our outstanding voting stock, including rights to acquire such stock by conversion of preferred stock, exercise of warrants or otherwise, requires approval of the Oklahoma Insurance Commissioner. Holding company laws in some states in which PPLCI operates provide for comparable registration and regulation of us.

Certain states have enacted special licensing or regulatory requirements designed to apply only to companies offering legal service products. These states most often follow regulations similar to those regulating casualty insurance providers. Thus, the operating company may be expected to comply with specific minimum capitalization and unimpaired surplus requirements; seek approval of forms, Memberships and marketing materials; adhere to required levels of claims reserves, and seek approval of premium rates and agent licensing. These laws may also restrict the amount of dividends paid to us by such subsidiaries. PPLSIF is subject to restrictions of this type under the laws of the State of Florida, including restrictions with respect to payment of dividends to us. At January 1, 2006, neither PPLSIF nor LSPV had funds available for payment of substantial dividends without the prior approval of the insurance commissioner. LSPV declared and paid us a \$3.7 million dividend during 2005.

As the legal plan industry continues to mature, additional legislation may be enacted that would affect us and our subsidiaries. We cannot predict with any accuracy if such legislation would be adopted or its ultimate effect on operations, but expect to continue to work closely with regulatory authorities to minimize any undesirable impact and, as noted above, to reduce regulatory cost and burden where possible.

Our operations are further impacted by the American Bar Association Model Rules of Professional Conduct ("Model Rules") and the American Bar Association Code of Professional Responsibility ("ABA Code") as adopted by various states. Arrangements for payments to a lawyer by an entity providing legal services to its members are permissible under both the Model Rules and the ABA Code, so long

as the arrangement prohibits the entity from regulating or influencing the lawyer's professional judgment. The ABA Code prohibits lawyer participation in closed panel legal service programs in certain circumstances. Our agreements with provider law firms comply with both the Model Rules and the ABA Code. We rely on the lawyers serving as the designated provider law firms for the closed panel benefits to determine whether their participation would violate any ethical guidelines applicable to them. We and our subsidiaries comply with filing requirements of state bar associations or other applicable regulatory authorities.

We are also required to comply with state, provincial and federal laws governing our multi-level marketing approach. These laws generally relate to unfair or deceptive trade practices, lotteries, business opportunities and securities. We have experienced no material problems with marketing compliance. In jurisdictions that require associates to be licensed, we receive all applications for licenses from the associates and forward them to the appropriate regulatory authority. We maintain records of all associates licensed, including effective and expiration dates of licenses and all states in which an associate is licensed. We do not accept new Membership sale applications from any unlicensed associate in such jurisdictions.

Employees

At December 31, 2005, we employed 815 individuals on a full-time basis, exclusive of independent agents and sales associates who are not employees, and excluding RVPs described above. None of our employees are represented by a union. We consider our employee relations to be good.

Foreign Operations

We began operations in the Canadian provinces of Ontario and British Columbia during 1999, Alberta in February 2001 and Manitoba in August 2001 and derived aggregate revenues, including Membership fees and revenues from associate services, from Canada of \$6.0 million in U.S. dollars during 2005 compared to \$4.7 million and \$4.5 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. In addition, we incur expenses in Canada in relation to these revenues. Due to the relative stability of the United States and Canadian foreign relations and currency exchange rates, we believe that any risk of foreign operations or currency valuations is minimal and would not have a material effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations.

Availability of Information

We file periodic reports and proxy statements with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information about the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. We file our reports with the SEC electronically. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The address of this site is http://www.sec.gov.

Our Internet address is www.prepaidlegal.com. We make available on our website free of charge copies of our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably possible after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

Our financial position, results of operations and cash flows are subject to various risks, many of which are not exclusively within our control that may cause actual performance to differ materially from historical or projected future performance. Information contained within this Form 10-K should be carefully considered by investors in light of the risk factors described below. In addition to factors discussed elsewhere in this report, the following are some of the important factors that could affect our financial condition or results of operations:

Our future results may be adversely affected if Membership persistency or renewal rates are lower than our historical experience.

We have over 20 years of actual historical experience to measure the expected retention of new members. These retention rates could be adversely affected by the quality of services delivered by provider law firms, the existence of competitive products or services, our ability to provide administrative services to members or other factors. If our Membership persistency or renewal rates are less than we have historically experienced, our cash flow, earnings and growth rates could be adversely affected.

We may not be able to grow Memberships and revenues at the same rate as we have historically experienced and have recently experienced declines in new Membership sales and associate recruitment.

Our year end active Memberships have increased 6%, 2% and 3% in the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Changes in net income for the same three years were (12%), 2% and 11%, respectively. Our ability to grow Memberships and revenues is substantially dependent upon our ability to expand or enhance the productivity of our sales force, develop additional legal expense products, develop alternative marketing methods or expand geographically. There is no assurance that we will be able to achieve increases in Membership and revenue growth comparable to our historical growth rates.

We are dependent upon the continued $% \left({{\mathbf{x}}_{i}} \right)$ active participation of our principal executive officer.

Our success depends substantially on the continued active participation of our principal executive officer, Harland C. Stonecipher. Although our management includes other individuals with significant experience in our business, the loss of the services of Mr. Stonecipher could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

There is litigation $% \left({{{\left({{{{\left({{{}}} \right)}} \right)}_{t}}}_{t}}} \right)$ determined.

See "Item 3. Legal Proceedings."

We are in a regulated industry and regulations could have an adverse effect on our ability to conduct our business.

We are regulated by or required to file with or obtain approval of State Insurance Departments, State Bar Associations and State Attorney General's Offices, depending on individual state positions regarding regulatory responsibility for legal service plans. Regulation of our activities is inconsistent among the various states in which we do business with some states regulating legal service plans as insurance or specialized legal service products and others regulating such plans as services. Such disparate regulation requires us to structure our Memberships and operations differently in certain states in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. Our multi-level marketing strategy is also subject to U.S. federal, Canadian provincial and U.S. state regulation under laws relating to consumer protection, pyramid sales, business opportunity, lotteries and multi-level marketing. Changes in the regulatory environment for our business could increase the compliance costs we incur in order to conduct our business or limit the jurisdictions in which we are able to conduct business.

The business in which we operate is competitive.

There are a number of existing and potential competitors that have the ability to offer competing products that could adversely affect our ability to grow. In addition, we may face competition from a growing number of Internet based legal sites with the potential to offer legal and related services at competitive prices. Increased competition could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. See "Description of Business - Competition."

We are dependent upon the success of our marketing force.

Our principal method of product distribution is through multi-level marketing. The success of a multi-level marketing force is highly dependent upon our ability to offer a commission and organizational structure and sales training and incentive program that enable sales associates to recruit and develop other sales associates to create an organization. There are a number of other products and services that use multi-level marketing as a distribution method and we must compete with these organizations to recruit, maintain and grow our multi-level marketing force. In order to do so, we may be required to increase our marketing costs through increases in commissions, sales incentives or other features, all of which could adversely affect our future earnings. In addition, the level of confidence of the sales associates in our ability to perform is an important factor in maintaining and growing a multi-level marketing force. Adverse financial developments concerning us, including negative publicity or common stock price declines, could adversely affect our ability to maintain the confidence of our sales force.

Our stock price may be affected by the significant level of short sellers of our stock.

As of January 13, 2006, the New York Stock Exchange reported that approximately 4.7 million shares of our stock were sold short, which constitutes approximately 30% of our outstanding shares and 45% of our public float, representing one of the largest short interest percentages of any New York Stock Exchange listed company. Short sellers expect to make a profit if our shares decline in value. We have been the subject of a negative publicity campaign from several known sources of information who support short sellers. The existence of this short interest position may contribute to volatility in our stock price and may adversely affect the ability of our stock price to rise if market conditions or our performance would otherwise justify a price increase.

We have not been able to increase our employee group Membership sales.

Our success in growing Membership sales is dependent in part on our ability to market to employee groups. At December 31, 2005, group memberships represented 20% of total Memberships compared to 25% at December 31, 2004 and 2003. Adverse publicity about us may affect our ability to market successfully to employee groups, particularly larger groups. There is no assurance that we will be able to increase our group business.

```
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
```

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Our executive and administrative offices and our subsidiaries are located at One Pre-Paid Way, Ada, Oklahoma. The office complex, owned by us, contains approximately 170,000 square feet of office space and was constructed on approximately 87 acres contributed to us by the City of Ada in 2001 as part of

an economic development incentive package. Construction was completed in 2004 at a cost of approximately \$34.1 million, including \$706,000 in capitalized interest costs, and was funded from existing resources and proceeds from a \$20 million line of credit.

Continued growth over the past 12 years required us to lease and purchase several ancillary sites to accommodate our expanding workforce before constructing our new headquarters. The new headquarters contains two long bars of open office area designed to serve as podiums, which stretch east from the northern and southern edges of the tower. Two and three stories high respectively, the podiums house the call centers and Information Technology departments. Only 60 feet across, they are designed to ensure that employees are never more that thirty feet from a source of daylight. Shared corporate services -- including a 650-seat auditorium, dining hall, exercise facility, and a connecting corridor containing a company history gallery -- are located at the east end of the bars, creating a central courtyard. The courtyard features a reflecting pool and a 12-foot bronze sculpture of our logo, the Lady of Justice, a universal symbol of justice. The building's main entrance welcomes its frequent visitors, celebrates our history, and is designed to convey the tradition of civic judicial buildings. The building is designed to expand over time without negatively impacting the site layout or the building concept and we emphasized the use of modular furnishings to provide enhanced flexibility. We placed importance on the goal of providing each employee with an excellent work environment.

Additionally, we fully utilize another distribution facility located about two miles from our new offices and containing approximately 17,000 square feet of office and warehouse and shipping space. Our previous headquarters of approximately 40,000 square feet and two other buildings containing approximately 18,600 combined square feet located adjacent to the distribution facility are now used as disaster recovery, or business continuity, sites.

In addition to the property described above that we own, we opened an additional Customer Care facility in Antlers, Oklahoma during March 2000, in building space provided by the City of Antlers at no cost to us. In conjunction with a rural economic development program coordinated by the City of Antlers, a new facility was built at no cost to us that can accommodate approximately 100 customer service representatives. We leased the facilities from the City of Antlers upon completion of the construction in November 2002. During 2005, in conjunction with economic development incentives, we leased additional office space in Duncan, Oklahoma which currently is occupied by approximately 90 of our customer service representatives and during January 2006, we acquired an additional 40,000 square foot building in Duncan that can hold 350 customer service representatives when remodeling is completed later in 2006. We are considering similar arrangements with other cities within Oklahoma to help diversify our access to competent labor pools.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We and various executive officers have been named as defendants in a putative securities class action originally filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma in early 2001 seeking unspecified damages on the basis of allegations that we issued false and misleading financial information, primarily related to the method we used to account for commission advance receivables from sales associates. On March 5, 2002, the Court granted our motion to dismiss the complaint, with prejudice, and entered a judgment in favor of the defendants. Plaintiffs thereafter filed a motion requesting reconsideration of the dismissal which was denied. The plaintiffs have appealed the judgment and the order denying their motion to reconsider the judgment to the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals. In August 2002 the lead

institutional plaintiff withdrew from the case, leaving two individual plaintiffs as lead plaintiffs on behalf of the putative class. As of December 31, 2003, the briefing in the appeal had been completed. On January 14, 2004 oral argument was held in the appeal and as of February 17, 2006, a decision was pending. We are unable to predict when a decision will be made on this appeal, and the ultimate outcome of the case is not determinable.

Beginning in the second quarter of 2001 multiple lawsuits were filed against us, certain officers, employees, sales associates and other defendants in various Alabama and Mississippi state courts by current or former members seeking actual and punitive damages for alleged breach of contract, fraud and various other claims in connection with the sale of Memberships. During 2004, there were at one time as many as 30 separate lawsuits involving approximately 285 plaintiffs in Alabama. As of February 17, 2006, as a result of dismissals, summary judgments, or settlements for nominal amounts, there were no lawsuits remaining in Alabama. As of February 17, 2006, we were aware of 7 separate lawsuits involving approximately 406 plaintiffs in multiple counties in Mississippi. Certain of the Mississippi lawsuits also name our former provider attorney in Mississippi as a defendant. In Mississippi, we filed lawsuits in the United States District Court for the Southern and Northern Districts of Mississippi in which we seek to compel arbitration of the various Mississippi claims under the Federal Arbitration Act and the terms of our Membership agreements. One of the federal courts has ordered arbitration of a case involving 8 plaintiffs. These cases are all in various stages of litigation, including trial settings in Mississippi in May, 2006, and seek varying amounts of actual and punitive damages. We have tried three separate lawsuits in Mississippi. The first trial in Mississippi on these cases resulted in a unanimous jury verdict in our favor, including other named defendants, on all claims on October 19, 2004, while the second and third trials in Mississippi resulted in insubstantial plaintiffs' verdicts on February 15, 2005 and May 9, 2005, respectively. On August 16, 2005 the Circuit Judge in the February 15, 2005 trial overturned the jury's finding of fraud and fraudulent misrepresentation on the grounds that the evidence was insufficient to support those claims and reduced the damages awarded by the jury to a total of \$525 for four plaintiffs. On July 18, 2005 the Circuit Judge in the May 9, 2005 trial entered an order granting plaintiff's motion to reconsider the submission of the issue of punitive damages to the jury, and trial on that issue was held in November 2005. The trial on that issue resulted in punitive damage verdicts against us and against our chief executive officer in the collective total amount of \$9.9 million. Pre-Paid will seek post judgment and appellate relief in that case. Although the amount of Membership fees paid by the plaintiffs in the Mississippi cases is \$500,000 or less, certain of the cases seek damages of \$90 million. The ultimate outcome of any particular case is not determinable.

On April 19, 2002, counsel in certain of the above-referenced Alabama suits also filed a similar suit against us and certain officers in the District Court of Creek County, Oklahoma on behalf of Jeff and Jana Weller individually and doing business as Hi-Tech Auto making similar allegations relating to our Memberships and seeking unspecified damages on behalf of a "nationwide" class. The Pre-Paid defendants' preliminary motions in this case were denied, and on June 17, 2003, the Oklahoma Court of Civil Appeals reversed the trial court's denial of the Pre-Paid defendants' motion to compel arbitration, finding that the trial court erred when it denied Pre-Paid's motion to compel arbitration pursuant to the terms of the valid Membership contracts, and remanded the case to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with that opinion. On December 3, 2004, the District Court ordered the plaintiffs to proceed with the arbitration. On October 16, 2005 plaintiff Jana Weller died, and on December 20, 2005 we filed a Suggestion of Death Upon the Record with respect thereto. The ultimate outcome of this case is not determinable.

On October 3, 2005 we received a Civil Investigative Demand from the Commissioner of Consumer Protection of the State of Connecticut requesting

information relating to our memberships and commissions to associates in Connecticut. As of February 17, 2006, we were in the process of responding to the request. The ultimate outcome of this matter is not determinable.

We are a defendant in various other legal proceedings that are routine and incidental to our business. We will vigorously defend our interests in all proceedings in which it is named as a defendant. We also receive periodic complaints or requests for information from various state and federal agencies relating to our business or the activities of our marketing force. We promptly respond to any such matters and provide any information requested.

While the ultimate outcome of these proceedings is not determinable, we do not currently anticipate that these contingencies will result in any material adverse effect to our financial condition or results of operation, unless an unexpected result occurs in one of the cases. The costs of the defense of these various matters are reflected as a part of general and administrative expense, or Membership benefits if fees relate to Membership issues, in the consolidated statements of income. We have established an accrued liability we believe will be sufficient to cover estimated damages in connection with various cases (exclusive of ongoing defense costs which are expensed as incurred), which at December 31, 2005 was \$2.5 million. We believe that we have meritorious defenses in all pending cases and will vigorously defend against the plaintiffs' claims. However, it is possible that an adverse outcome in certain cases or increased litigation costs could have an adverse effect upon our financial condition, operating results or cash flows in particular quarterly or annual periods.

Canadian taxing authorities are challenging portions of our commission and general and administrative deductions for tax years 1999 - 2002 and have tax assessments which aggregate \$5.7 million. The Canadian taxing authorities contend commission deductions should be matched with the membership revenue as received, we contend these commissions are deductible when paid. Under Canadian tax laws, our commission payments are treated as a prepaid expense. We base our deduction of commission on the fact that all the services (the sale of the membership) have been performed by the sales associate at the time of sale therefore this prepaid expense (the commission payments) is deductible when paid. Also, the commission payment is taxable to the sales associate when paid and each year we issue a T4 (Canadian 1099 equivalent) to sales associates for the total commission payments made during that year. In addition, Canadian taxing authorities have challenged our allocation of general and administrative expenses to Canadian operations. We contend the allocation of general and administrative expenses, based on the percentage of Canadian new memberships written and the Canadian percentage memberships in force, is reasonable. At December 31, 2005 we have accrued \$472,000 for this assessment.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market Price of and Dividends on the Common Stock

At February 17, 2006, there were 5,486 holders of record (including brokerage firms and other nominees) of our common stock, which is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "PPD." The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the range of high and low sales prices for the common stock, as reported by the New York Stock Exchange.

	High	Low
2006:		
1st Quarter (through February 17)	\$ 39.90	\$ 35.35
ist guarter (chrough rebruary 17)	Ç 39.90	Ŷ 55.55
2005:		
4th Quarter	\$ 48.40	\$ 37.20
3rd Quarter	52.77	36.35
2nd Quarter	47.00	33.51
1st Quarter	38.37	30.69
2004:		
4th Quarter	\$ 40.39	\$ 25.45
3rd Quarter	26.10	22.25
2nd Quarter	25.50	22.27
1st Quarter	26.33	21.57

On December 6, 2004, we declared our first cash dividend of \$0.50 per share on our outstanding shares of common stock. The following table sets forth, for 2005 and 2004, the declaration date, the per share dividend amount, the aggregate dividend amount, the record date and the payable date of cash dividends that we have declared on our outstanding shares of common stock:

Declared	Per Share	Aggregate Amount	Record Date	Paymen
December 6, 2004	\$0.50	\$7.8 million	December 20, 2004	January
April 4, 2005	0.30	4.6 million	April 25, 2005	May 16,
December 19, 2005	0.30	4.6 million	December 30, 2005	January

It is anticipated that earnings generated from our operations will be used to finance our growth, to continue to purchase shares of our stock, to retire existing debt and possibly pay cash dividends. We have loans as described in "Management's Discussion and Analysis - Liquidity and Capital Resources," which currently prohibit payment of cash dividends in excess of 65% of net income. Any decision by our Board of Directors to pay additional cash dividends in the future will depend upon, among other factors, our earnings, financial condition, capital requirements and approval from our lender for any dividends in excess of 65% of net income. In addition, our ability to pay dividends is dependent in part on our ability to derive dividends from our subsidiaries. The payment of dividends by PPLCI is restricted under the Oklahoma Insurance Code to available surplus funds derived from realized net profits and requires the approval of the Oklahoma Insurance Commissioner for any dividend representing more than the greater of 10% of such accumulated available surplus or the previous years' net profits. PPLSIF and LSPV are similarly restricted pursuant to their respective insurance laws. The following table reflects subsidiary dividends during the last three years:

	Dividends Paid		
Regulated Subsidiary	2005	2004	2003
Pre-Paid Legal Casualty, Inc. Legal Service Plans of Virginia	\$ 4.1 million 3.7 million		

At December 31, 2005 the amount of restricted net assets of consolidated subsidiaries was \$25.3 million, representing amounts that may not be paid to us as dividends either under the applicable regulations or without regulatory approval. At January 1, 2006 PPLCI had approximately \$6.1 million available for payment to us of an ordinary dividend.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information with respect to our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2005, (other than our tax qualified Employee Stock Ownership Plan designed to provide retirement benefits).

Plan Category	Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights (a)	Weighted average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights (b)	Numbe remain futur equi pla securi
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders (1)	474,500	\$20.82	
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders (2)	32,667	22.70	
Total	507,167	\$20.94	

- These stock options have been issued pursuant to our Stock Option Plan which has been approved by security holders. We do not expect to grant any additional options under this plan.
- (2) These stock options have been issued to our Regional Vice Presidents ("RVPs") (described above) in order to encourage stock ownership by our RVPs and to increase the proprietary interest of such persons in our growth and financial success. These options have been granted periodically to RVPs since 1996. Options are granted at fair market value at the date of the grant and are generally immediately exercisable for a period of three years or within 90 days of termination, whichever occurs first. There were 36,751 and 106,002 total options granted to RVPs in the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We discontinued the RVP stock option grants

immediately after the 2003 fourth quarter stock options were awarded in the first quarter of 2004.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information about our purchases of stock in the open market during the fourth quarter of 2005.

Period	Total Number of Shares Purchased	Average Price Paid per Share	Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs	M Sh Be
October 2005	_	_	_	
November 2005	_	_	_	
December 2005	_	_	_	
Total	_	_	_	

(1) We announced on April 6, 1999, a treasury stock purchase program authorizing management to acquire up to 500,000 shares of our common stock. The Board of Directors has subsequently from time to time increased such authorization from 500,000 shares to 10,000,000 shares. The most recent authorization was for 1,000,000 additional shares August 9, 2004 and there has been no time limit set for completion of the repurchase program. In addition, we purchased 980,518 shares for \$26.00 per share in a tender offer completed on September 28, 2004.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following table sets forth selected financial and statistical data for us as of the dates and for the periods indicated. This information is not necessarily indicative of our future performance. The following information should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation included elsewhere herein.

		Year Er	nded De
	2005	2004	2003
Income Statement Data: Revenues:	(In thousands	, except rati	io, per
Membership fees Associate services Other		\$ 355,461 24,901 5,575	\$ 330, 25, 5,
Total revenues	423,380	385,937	361,
Costs and expenses:			

Edgar Filing:	PRE PAID LEGA	AL SERVICES IN(C - Form 10-K
- 3 3			

Membership benefits	137,150	122,280	111,
Commissions	141,631	118 , 757	115,
Associate services and direct marketing	30,453	29,325	28,
General and administrative expenses	49,015	43,742	36,
Other, net	10,456		8,
Total costs and expenses	368,705		300,
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and			
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle		62,255	60,
Provision for income taxes		21,478	20,
Income from continuing operations			
Income (loss) from operations of discontinued UFL segment (net of applicable income tax benefit of \$0 for 2001)	_	_	
Net income applicable to common stockholders	\$35,812	\$ 40,777	
Basic earnings per common share from continuing operations Basic earnings per common share from discontinued operations	\$ 2.31	\$ 2.50	\$ 2
- Basic earnings per common share		\$ 2.50	====== \$ 2 ======
Diluted earnings per common share from continuing operations Diluted earnings per common share from discontinued operations	\$ 2.29 _	\$ 2.48	\$ 2
Diluted earnings per common share	\$ 2.29	\$ 2.48	
Dividends declared per common share	\$.60		
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic Weighted average number of common shares	15 , 470	16,313	17,
outstanding - diluted	15,652	16,458	17,

Selected Financial Data, continued

		Year	Ended Dec
	2005	2004	2003
Membership Benefits Cost and Statistical Data:	(In thousands	, except	ratio, pe
Membership benefits ratio (1) Commissions ratio (1)	35.2% 36.4%	34.4% 33.4%	33. 34.
General and administrative expense ratio (1)	12.6% \$ 202	12.3% \$ 190	11.) \$

New Memberships and stand-alone IDT plans sold Period end Memberships and stand-alone IDT plans in	700,727	624,525	671 ,
force	1,542,789	1,451,700	1,418,
New add-on IDT memberships sold	441,108	335,792	89,
Period end add-on IDT memberships in force	461,094	283,889	86,
Average annual Membership fee	\$ 287	\$ 274	\$
Cash Flow Data:			
Net cash provided before changes in assets and liabilities	\$ 45,443	\$ 51 , 689	\$ 47,
Net cash provided by operating activities	50,131	47,263	51,
Net cash used in investing activities	(15,545)	(11,322)	(36,
Net cash used in financing activities	(26,601)	(31,428)	(14,
Balance Sheet Data:			
Total assets	\$ 164,865	\$ 146,064	\$ 131,
Total liabilities	113,471	114,617	101,
Stockholders' equity	51,394	31,447	29,

(1) The Membership benefits ratio, the commissions ratio and the general and administrative expense ratio represent those costs as a percentage of Membership fees. These ratios do not measure total profitability because they do not take into account all revenues and expenses.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

Overview of the Our Financial Model

We are in one line of business - the marketing of legal expense and other complimentary plans primarily through a multi-level marketing force to individuals. Our principal revenues are derived from Membership fees, and to a much lesser extent, revenues from marketing associates. Our principal expenses are commissions, Membership benefits, associates services and direct marketing costs and general and administrative expense. The following table reflects the changes in these categories of revenues and expenses in the last 3 years (dollar amounts in 000's):

Revenues:	2005	% of Total Revenue	% Change from Prior Year 	2004	% of Total Revenue	% Change from Prior Year 	2003
Membership fees	\$389 , 255	91.9	9.5	\$355 , 461	92.1	7.6 \$	\$ 330 , 32
Associate services	28,963	6.8	16.3	24,901	6.5	(3.1)	25 , 70
Other	5,162	1.2	(7.4)	5,575	1.4	5.4	5,28
	423,380	100.0	9.7	385,937	100.0	6.8	361,31
Costs and expenses:							7
Commissions	141,631	33.5	19.3	118,757	30.8	2.9	115 , 38
Membership benefits	137,150	32.4	12.2	122,280	31.7	10.0	111,16
Associate services and							
direct marketing	30,453	7.2	3.9	29,325	7.6	1.4	28,92
General and administrative	49,015	11.6	12.1	43,742	11.3	19.2	36,71
Other, net	10,456	2.5	9.2	9,578	2.5	12.1	8,54

	368,705	87.1	13.9	323,682	83.9	7.6 300,73
Provision for income taxes	18,863	4.5	(12.2)	21,478	5.6	3.9 20,66
Net income	\$ 35,812	8.5	(12.2)	\$ 40,777	10.6	2.2 \$ 39,90

The following table reflects certain data concerning our Membership sales and associate recruiting:

New Memberships:	12/31/2005	% Change from Prior Year	12/31/2004
New legal service Membership sales New "stand-alone" IDT Membership sales	34,132	11.1 38.7	24,596
Total new Membership sales		12.2	
New "add-on" IDT Membership sales Average Annual Membership fee		31.4 6.2	
Active Memberships:			
Active legal service memberships at end of period Active "stand-alone" IDT memberships at end of period	51,942		26,993
Total active memberships at end of period	1,542,789		1,451,700
Active "add-on" IDT memberships at end of period			
New Sales Associates:			
 New sales associates recruited Average enrollment fee paid by new sales associates	242,223 \$56.61	125.2 (60.3)	
Average Membership fee in force:			
 Average Annual Membership fee	\$286.60	4.6	\$274.02

During the third quarter of 2003, we began offering our Identity Theft Shield ("IDT") to new and existing members at \$9.95 per month if added to a legal service Membership or \$12.95 per month if purchased separately.

The number of active Memberships in force and the average monthly fee will directly determine Membership fees and their impact on total revenues during any period. The two most important variables impacting the number of active Memberships during a period are the number of new Memberships written during the period combined with the retention characteristics of both new and existing Memberships. See "Measures of Member Retention" below for a discussion of our Membership retention. Associate services revenues are a function of the number of new sales associates enrolled and the price of entry during the period, the number of associates subscribing to our eService offering and the amount of sales tools purchased by the sales force.

Membership benefits expense is primarily determined by the number of active Memberships and the per capita contractual rate that exists between us and our benefits providers and during the last five years has been and is expected to continue to be a relatively fixed percentage of Membership revenues of approximately 33%-35% but could increase should the number of IDT memberships increase at a faster pace than the legal Memberships.. Commissions paid to associates are primarily dependent on the number and price of new Memberships sold during a period and any special incentives that may be in place during the period. We expense advance commissions ratably over the first month of the related Membership. The level of commission expense in relation to Membership revenues varies depending on the level of new Memberships written and is expected to be higher when we experience increases in new Membership sales. During the last five years this percentage has ranged from approximately 33% to 42% of Membership revenues. Associate services and direct marketing expenses are directly impacted by the number of new associates enrolled during a period due to the cost of materials provided to such new associates, the number of associates subscribing to our eService offering, the amount of sales tools purchased by the sales force as well as the number of those associates who successfully meet the Fast Start to Success training and incentive award program qualifications. Prior to 2003 these costs were more than offset by associate services revenue, however this did not occur in 2005, 2004 or 2003 primarily due to the lower entry fees charged during most of the periods. General and administrative expenses are expected to trend up in terms of dollars, but remain relatively constant as a percent of Membership fees. During the past five years, general and administrative expenses have ranged from 11% to 13% of Membership fees.

The primary benchmarks monitored by us throughout the various periods include the number of active Memberships and their related retention characteristics, the number of new Memberships written, the number of new associates enrolled and the percentage of new associates that successfully meet the Fast Start to Success qualification requirements.

Although we have grown our active Membership base and related Membership fees in each of the past 13 years, the rate of growth has not been one we find acceptable. We believe however, that our current product design, pricing parameters and business model are generally appropriate and we have no immediate plans to change these fundamental sectors. Our focus during 2006 will continue to be on improved training of our associates, enhancing the quality of sales tools provided to new and existing associates, providing incentives for associates to write consistent, quality business and continued emphasis on improving the basic retention characteristics of our Memberships.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Preparing financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These estimates and assumptions are affected by management's application of accounting policies. If these estimates or assumptions are incorrect, there could be a material change in our financial condition or operating results. Many of these "critical accounting policies" are common in the insurance and financial services industries; others are specific to our business and operations. Our critical accounting policies include estimates relating to revenue recognition related to Membership and associate fees, deferral of Membership and associate related costs, expense recognition related to commissions to associates, accrual of incentive awards payable and accounting for legal contingencies.

Revenue recognition - Membership and Associate Fees Our principal revenues are derived from Membership fees, most of which are

collected on a monthly basis. Memberships are generally guaranteed renewable and non-cancelable except for fraud, non-payment of Membership fees or upon written request. Membership fees are recognized in income ratably over the related service period in accordance with Membership terms, which generally require the holder of the Membership to remit fees on an annual, semi-annual or monthly basis. Approximately 95% of members remit their Membership fees on a monthly basis, of which approximately 73% are paid in advance and, therefore, are deferred and recognized over the following month. At December 31, 2005 the deferred revenue associated with the Membership fees was \$20.8 million which is classified as a current liability.

We also charge new members, who are not part of an employee group, a \$10 enrollment fee. This enrollment fee and related incremental direct and origination costs are deferred and recognized in income over the estimated life of a Membership in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, "Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements," ("SAB 101") as revised by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104. At December 31, 2005 the deferred revenue associated with the Membership enrollment fees was \$6.9 million, of which \$3.9 million was classified as a current liability. We compute the expected Membership life using more than 20 years of actuarial data as explained in more detail in "Measures of Membership Retention" below. At December 31, 2005, management computed the expected Membership life to be approximately 3 years, which is unchanged from year end 2004. If the expected Membership life were to change significantly, which management does not expect in the short term, the deferred Membership enrollment fee and related costs would be recognized over a longer or shorter period.

We derive revenues from services provided to our marketing sales force primarily from a one-time non-refundable enrollment fee from each new sales associate for which we provide initial sales and marketing supplies and enrollment services to the associate. Average enrollment fees paid by new sales associates were \$57, \$142 and \$136 for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Revenue from, and costs of, the initial sales and marketing supplies (approximately \$14) are recognized when the materials are delivered to the associates. The remaining revenues and related incremental direct and origination costs are deferred and recognized over the estimated average active service period of associates which at December 31, 2005 is estimated to be approximately six months, unchanged from year end 2004. At December 31, 2005, the deferred revenue associated with sales associate enrollment fees was \$1.6 million, which is classified as a current liability. Management estimates the active service period of an associate periodically based on the average number of months an associate produces new Memberships including those associates that fail to write any Memberships. If the active service period of associates changes significantly, which management does not expect in the short term, the deferred revenue and related costs would be recognized over the new estimated active service period.

Member and Associate Costs

Deferred costs represent the incremental direct and origination costs we incur in enrolling new Members and new associates related to the deferred revenue discussed above, and that portion of payments made to provider law firms (\$6.5 million deferred at December 31, 2005 which is classified as a current asset) and associates related to deferred Membership revenue. Deferred costs for enrolling new members include the cost of the Membership kit and salary and benefit costs for employees who process Membership enrollments, and were \$6.6 million at December 31, 2005, of which \$3.6 million is classified in current assets. Deferred costs for enrolling new associates include training and success bonuses paid to individuals involved in recruiting the associate and salary and benefit costs of employees who process associate enrollments, and were \$800,000 at December 31, 2005, and are classified as a current asset. Such costs are deferred to the extent of the lesser of actual costs incurred or the amount of the related fee charged for such services. Deferred costs are amortized to

expense over the same period as the related deferred revenue as discussed above. Deferred costs that will be recognized within one year of the balance sheet date are classified as current and all remaining deferred costs are considered noncurrent. Associate related costs are reflected as associate services and direct marketing, and are expensed as incurred if not related to the deferred revenue discussed above. These costs include providing materials and services to associates, Fast Start bonuses, associate introduction kits, associate incentive programs, group marketing and marketing services departments (including costs of related travel, marketing events, leadership summits and international sales convention).

Commissions to Associates

Beginning with new Memberships written after March 1, 1995, we implemented a level commission schedule (approximately 27% per annum at December 31, 2001) with up to a three-year advance commission payment. Prior to March 1, 1995, our commission program provided for advance commission payments to associates of approximately 70% of first year Membership fees on new Membership sales and commissions were earned by the associate at a rate of approximately 16% in all subsequent years. Effective March 1, 2002, and in order to offer additional incentives for increased Membership retention rates, we returned to a differential commission structure with rates of approximately 80% of first year Membership fees on new Memberships written and variable renewal commission rates ranging from five to 25% pevestment companies.

Valuations that are derived from techniques in which one or more of the significant inputs are unobservable (including assumptions about risk). The Plan assets identified as Level 3 instruments include stable value
Level funds. Fair value is based on criteria that use assumptions or other data that are not readily observable from
objective sources and provided primarily from the sponsors of the underlying funds. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Plan's stable value funds valued using Level 3 criteria totaled \$1,884,774 and \$1,737,110,

respectively. The use of different criteria or assumptions regarding data may have yielded different valuations.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2014 and 2013

As of December 31, 2014, assets carried at fair value were measured on a recurring basis as summarized below:

	Prio Act Ma for Ide Ass	rkets ntical	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)	Total
Common/collective trusts					
*Stable value funds	\$	-	\$-	\$ 1,884,774	\$1,884,774
Other		-	726,938	-	726,938
Subtotal		-	726,938	1,884,774	2,611,712
Employer securities		-	1,560,514	-	1,560,514
Registered investment companies:					
Growth funds		-	3,443,620	-	3,443,620
Value funds		-	1,745,757	-	1,745,757
Balanced funds		-	1,820,114	-	1,820,114
Target date funds		-	2,973,003	-	2,973,003
International funds		-	244,011	-	244,011
Index funds		-	1,922,957	-	1,922,957
Fixed income funds		-	1,163,313	-	1,163,313
Other funds		-	279,242	-	279,242
Subtotal		-	13,592,017	-	13,592,017
Total	\$	-	\$15,879,469	\$ 1,884,774	\$17,764,243
10					

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2014 and 2013

As of December 31, 2013, assets carried at fair value were measured on a recurring basis as summarized below:

	Pric Act Mai for Iden Ass	rkets	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)	Total
Common/collective trusts					
*Stable value funds	\$	-	\$ -	\$ 1,737,110	\$1,737,110
Other		-	603,782	-	603,782
Subtotal		-	603,782	1,737,110	2,340,892
Employer securities		-	1,577,732	-	1,577,732
Registered investment companies:					
Growth funds		-	3,458,383	-	3,458,383
Value funds		-	1,413,043	-	1,413,043
Balanced funds		-	1,433,190	-	1,433,190
Target date funds		-	2,713,203	-	2,713,203
International funds		-	204,491	-	204,491
Index funds		-	1,404,428	-	1,404,428
Fixed income funds		-	1,166,533	-	1,166,533
Other funds		-	234,233	-	234,233
Subtotal		-	12,027,504	-	12,027,504
Total	\$	-	\$14,209,018	\$ 1,737,110	\$15,946,128

*The Wells Fargo Stable Return Fund invests in guaranteed investment contracts and has certain withdrawal restrictions for liquidity reasons. The provisions of the trust provide that withdrawals for other than normal benefit payments and participant directed transfers may require up to twelve months advance notice.

At December 31, 2014, the Plan had no unfunded commitments related to the common/collective trusts.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2014 and 2013

Plan management periodically evaluates the significance of transfers between levels, if any, based upon the nature of the financial instrument and size of the transfer relative to total net assets available for benefits. For the year ended December 31, 2014, there were no transfers between levels 1, 2, or 3.

The following is a roll-forward of the financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the two years ended December 31, 2014.

	Stable
	Value
	Fund
Balance, January 1, 2013	\$945,810
Contributions	949,844
Withdrawals	(180,559)
Appreciation in fair value	22,015
Balance, December 31, 2013	1,737,110
Contributions	421,027
Withdrawals	(299,069)
Appreciation in fair value	25,706
Balance, December 31, 2014	\$1,884,774

The Plan assets identified as Level 3 instruments are comprised solely of stable value funds. They are not actively traded and valuation techniques used to measure their fair value are primarily based on data provided from the sponsors of the underlying stable value funds.

<u>Net Appreciation (Depreciation)</u>: Net realized gains (losses) and unrealized appreciation (depreciation) are recorded in the accompanying statement of changes in net assets available for benefits as net appreciation (depreciation) in fair market value of investments.

Payment of Benefits: Distributions to participants are recorded when payment is made.

<u>Recent Accounting Pronouncements</u>: In May 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-07, Disclosure for Investments in Certain Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent) (ASU 2015-07). ASU 2015-07 seeks to eliminate diversity in practice surrounding how investments measured at net asset value under the practical expedient with future redemption dates have been categorized in the fair value hierarchy. It is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015. Management is currently evaluating implications of ASU 2015-07.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2014 and 2013

NOTE 3—INVESTMENTS

The estimated fair values of individual investments that represent 5% or more of the Plan's net assets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

	2014	2013
Allianz NFJ Dividend Value Ins. Fund	\$1,120,123	\$983,382
Atlantic American Corporation Common Stock Fund	1,560,514	1,577,732
Baron Growth Fund	1,460,492	1,552,016
Fidelity Puritan Fund	1,820,114	1,433,190
PIMCO Total Return II (I) Fund	926,168	1,039,238
T. Rowe Price Blue Chip Growth Fund	1,861,202	1,824,921
Vanguard Mid Cap Index	*	749,233
Wells Fargo Stable Return Fund N	1,884,774	1,737,110

*Does not represent 5% or more of the Plan's net assets in the respective year.

Net appreciation in fair market value of investments by major investment type for the year ended December 31, 2014 is as follows:

Employer securities - Common stock	\$(7,330)
Registered investment companies	643,864
Common/collective trusts	121,175
	\$757,709

NOTE 4—TAX STATUS

The Plan uses a Volume Submitter Plan sponsored by the Trustee. The Trustee received an opinion letter from the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS"), dated March 26, 2010, which states that the Volume Submitter Plan satisfies the applicable provisions of the Code. The Plan itself has not received a determination letter from the IRS. However, the Plan's management believes that the Plan is currently designed and being operated in compliance with the applicable requirements of the Code. Therefore, no provision for income tax has been included in the Plan's financial statements.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2014 and 2013

GAAP requires plan management to evaluate tax positions taken by the plan and recognize a tax liability (or asset) if the organization has taken an uncertain position that more likely than not would not be sustained upon examination by the IRS. The Plan administrator has analyzed the tax positions taken by the Plan, and has concluded that as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, there are no uncertain positions taken or expected to be taken that would require recognition of the liability (or asset) or disclosure in the financial statements. The Plan is subject to routine audits by taxing jurisdictions and the Plan could be subject to income tax if certain issues were found by the IRS that could result in the disqualification of the Plan's tax-exempt status; however, there are currently no audits for any tax periods in progress. The Plan administrator believes it is no longer subject to income tax examinations for years prior to 2011.

NOTE 5-PLAN TERMINATION

Although it has not expressed any intent to do so, the Company has the right under the Plan to discontinue its contributions at any time and to terminate the Plan subject to the provisions of ERISA. In the event of plan termination, participants will become fully vested in their accounts as of the termination date.

NOTE 6—PARTY-IN-INTEREST TRANSACTIONS

The Plan held 371,463 shares and 378,447 shares of Atlantic American Corporation (the Plan Sponsor) common stock as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively in the Atlantic American Corporation Common Stock Fund. The fund invests in Atlantic American Corporation common stock and money market funds and had an estimated fair value of \$1,560,514 and \$1,577,732, at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Certain investments totaling \$2,611,712, held by the Plan at December 31, 2014, are managed by the Trustee and /or its affiliates. These investments, as well as notes receivable from participants, qualify as party-in-interest transactions.

<u>Table of Contents</u> ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION 401(k) RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN PLAN NUMBER 001 58-1027114

SCHEDULE H, LINE 4i-SCHEDULE OF ASSETS (HELD AT END OF YEAR)

December 31, 2014

Identity of Issue, Borrower, Lessor, or Similar Party	Description of Investment	Cost	Current Value
	Cash		\$2
Allianz Global Investors	Allianz NFJ Dividend Value Ins. Fund, 65,086 units	(a)	1,120,123
*Atlantic American Corporation	Atlantic American Corporation Common Stock Fund, 80,139 units		1,560,514
Baron Capital, Inc.	Baron Growth Fund, 19,941 units	(a)	1,460,492
Columbia Management	Columbia Acorn Int'l Fund Z, 4,097 units Columbia Small Cap Value II Z Fund, 8,778 units	(a) (a)	170,973 154,236
DFA International	DFA International VL Port INS CL, 11,198 units	(a)	197,641
Eaton Vance	Parametric Emerging Markets, 3,310 units	(a)	46,370
Fidelity Investments	Fidelity Puritan Fund, 84,696 units	(a)	1,820,114
Harbor Investments	Harbor International Fund, 1,882 units	(a)	121,926
Loomis Sayles	Loomis Sayles Bond Fund Instl 15,991 units	(a)	237,145
Oppenheimer Funds	Oppenheimer Global Opportunities Y Fund, 6,990 units	(a)	279,242
PIMCO Funds	PIMCO Total Return II (I) Fund, 90,890 units	(a)	926,168
18			

Table of Contents ATLANTIC AMERICAN CORPORATION 401(k) RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN PLAN NUMBER 001 58-1027114

SCHEDULE H, LINE 4i-SCHEDULE OF ASSETS (HELD AT END OF YEAR)

December 31, 2014

	T. Rowe Price	T. Rowe Price Equity Income, 9,159 units	(a)	300,425
		T. Rowe Price Blue Chip Growth Fund, 27,668 units	(a)	1,861,202
		T. Rowe Price Retirement Fund 2005, 18,544 units	(a)	241,066
		T. Rowe Price Retirement Fund 2010, 13,332 units	(a)	236,369
		T. Rowe Price Retirement Fund 2015, 42,535 units	(a)	615,484
		T. Rowe Price Retirement Fund 2020, 21,713 units	(a)	449,665
		T. Rowe Price Retirement Fund 2025, 11,065 units	(a)	173,834
		T. Rowe Price Retirement Fund 2030, 12,777 units	(a)	294,134
		T. Rowe Price Retirement Fund 2035, 18,112 units	(a)	301,746
		T. Rowe Price Retirement Fund 2040, 12,451 units	(a)	297,819
		T. Rowe Price Retirement Fund 2045, 1,504 units	(a)	24,058
		T. Rowe Price Retirement Fund 2050, 22,987 units	(a)	308,262
		T. Rowe Price Retirement Fund 2055, 2,296 units	(a)	30,566
	Vanguard Group	Vanguard Small Cap Index Fund, 6,464 units	(a)	361,127
		Vanguard Mid Cap Index Fund, 5,694 units	(a)	871,048
		Vanguard Total Bond Market Index I Fund, 63,549 units	(a)	690,782
	Various Plan	Participant loans with varying maturities and interest rates ranging from		130,522
*	Participants	4.25% to 6.00%	-	130,322
*,				
**	Wells Fargo Bank, NA	Wells Fargo Enhanced Stock Market Fund G, 4,135 units	(a)	726,938
		Wells Fargo Stable Return Fund N, 36,550 units	(a)	1,884,774
	TOTAL			\$17,894,767
*]	Indicates party in interes	st		
	Common/collective trus			
(a)]	Particinant-directed			

(a) Participant-directed

19

Table of Contents Exhibit 2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Atlantic American Corporation 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan Atlanta, Georgia

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 33-90890) of Atlantic American Corporation of our report dated June 23, 2015, relating to the financial statements and supplemental schedule of Atlantic American Corporation 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan which appear in this Form 11-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

BDO USA, LLP Atlanta, Georgia June 23, 2015